

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

Bariatric surgery for non-alcoholic steatohepatitis in obese patients (Review)

Chavez-Tapia NC, Tellez-Avila FI, Barrientos-Gutierrez T, Mendez-Sanchez N, Lizardi-Cervera J, Uribe M

Chavez-Tapia NC, Tellez-Avila FI, Barrientos-Gutierrez T, Mendez-Sanchez N, Lizardi-Cervera J, Uribe M. Bariatric surgery for non-alcoholic steatohepatitis in obese patients. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2010, Issue 1. Art. No.: CD007340. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD007340.pub2.

www.cochranelibrary.com



TABLE OF CONTENTS

HEADER	1
ABSTRACT	1
PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY	2
BACKGROUND	3
OBJECTIVES	3
METHODS	3
RESULTS	5
DISCUSSION	6
AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS	6
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	7
REFERENCES	8
CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES	11
ADDITIONAL TABLES	22
APPENDICES	24
WHAT'S NEW	26
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	26
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST	26
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	26
DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW	27
NOTES	27
INDEX TERMS	27



[Intervention Review]

Bariatric surgery for non-alcoholic steatohepatitis in obese patients

Norberto C Chavez-Tapia¹, Felix I Tellez-Avila², Tonatiuh Barrientos-Gutierrez³, Nahum Mendez-Sanchez⁴, Javier Lizardi-Cervera⁵, Misael Uribe²

¹Centro Studi Fegato (CSF), Liver Research Centre, Trieste, Italy. ²Department of Gastroenterology, Instituto Nacional de Ciencias Médicas y Nutrición Salvador Zubirán, Mexico City, Mexico. ³Tobacco Research Department, National Institute of Public Health, Mexico City, Mexico. ⁴Dept. of Biomedical Research, Gastroenterology & Liver Unit, Medica Sur Clinic & Foundation, Tlalpan, Mexico. ⁵Department of Gastroenterology, Medica Sur Clinic & Foundation, Mexico City, Mexico

Contact address: Norberto C Chavez-Tapia, Centro Studi Fegato (CSF), Liver Research Centre, Bldg Q - AREA Science Park- Basovizza Campus, SS14 Km 163,5, Trieste, 34012, Italy. khavez@gmail.com.

Editorial group: Cochrane Hepato-Biliary Group. **Publication status and date:** Edited (no change to conclusions), published in Issue 3, 2010.

Citation: Chavez-Tapia NC, Tellez-Avila FI, Barrientos-Gutierrez T, Mendez-Sanchez N, Lizardi-Cervera J, Uribe M. Bariatric surgery for non-alcoholic steatohepatitis in obese patients. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2010, Issue 1. Art. No.: CD007340. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD007340.pub2.

Copyright © 2010 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

ABSTRACT

Background

Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is increasingly recognised as a condition associated with overweight or obesity that may progress to end-stage liver disease. NAFLD histology resembles alcohol-induced liver injury, but occurs in patients with no history of alcohol abuse. NAFLD has a broad spectrum of clinical and histological manifestations, ranging from simple fatty liver to hepatic steatosis with inflammation, advanced fibrosis, and cirrhosis. The inflammatory stage is known as non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH). Recent reports indicate that weight loss induced by bariatric procedures could be beneficial for NASH treatment.

Objectives

To assess the benefits and harms of bariatric surgery for NASH in obese patients.

Search methods

We searched The Cochrane Hepato-Biliary Group Controlled Trials Register, the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) in The Cochrane Library, MEDLINE, EMBASE, and Science Citation Index Expanded to October 2009.

Selection criteria

All randomised clinical trials evaluating any bariatric procedure versus no intervention, placebo (sham procedure), or other interventions in patients with NASH regardless of publication status, number of patients randomised, language, or blinding. Quasi-randomised clinical studies were to be considered for the review if no randomised clinical trials were identified. If included, their bias towards positive findings was to be considered.

Data collection and analysis

We extracted data in duplicate, and we planned to analyse the data by intention-to-treat.

Main results

We could not find any randomised clinical trials or quasi-randomised clinical studies that fulfilled the inclusion criteria. Our search resulted in twenty-one prospective or retrospective cohort studies, in which improvement on steatosis or inflammation scores was reported. However, four studies also described some deterioration in the degree of fibrosis.



Authors' conclusions

The lack of randomised clinical trials and quasi-randomised clinical studies precludes us to assess the benefits and harms of bariatric surgery as a therapeutic approach for patients with NASH. Limitations of all other studies with inferior design did not allow us to draw any unbiased conclusion on bariatric surgery for treatment of NASH.

PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY

Bariatric surgery for non-alcoholic steatohepatitis in obese patients

Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is the liver manifestation of metabolic syndrome in which obesity and resistance to the insulin action are the hallmark. Fat accumulation in the liver produces inflammation and chronic liver damage, known as non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH). Nowadays, the best strategy to treat NAFLD and NASH is weight loss. Surgical procedures to treat obesity (bariatric surgery) have shown good results to reduce fat accumulation and even improve other obesity-related conditions. However, neither the benefits nor the harms of bariatric surgery in NASH have been assessed in any systematic review or meta-analysis of randomised clinical trials. The present Cochrane review attempted to evaluate the benefits and risks of bariatric surgery for NASH in obese patients, but as no randomised clinical trials fulfilling the inclusion criteria of the review protocol were found, the review was not able to address the prespecified in the protocol aims. Prospective and retrospective cohort studies reported on beneficial effects on steatosis and inflammation, with potential increase of liver fibrosis, but the studies were too heterogenous and with a small number of patients. Hence, the data, which the latter studies contained, are with a high risk of bias, and a reliable summary of their data cannot be achieved. Due to the absence of trials, well-designed randomised trials to assess bariatric surgery as a safe and effective treatment of NASH are required.



BACKGROUND

Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is increasingly recognised as a condition that may progress to end-stage liver disease. The pathology resembles that of alcohol-induced liver injury, but it occurs in patients with no alcohol abuse (Wanless 1990). NAFLD is becoming the preferred term to refer to a wide spectrum of liver damage, ranging from simple steatosis to steatohepatitis, advanced fibrosis, and cirrhosis (Wang 2003). NAFLD prevalence ranges from 10% to 24% in the general population (Garcia-Monzon 2001), being 4.6-fold higher in obese individuals (Musso 2003). Other risk factors associated with NAFLD are waist circumference (more than 102 cm in males and more than 88 cm in females) (Hotamisligil 1995), hyperinsulinaemia, hypertriglyceridaemia, and impaired glucose tolerance, or type 2 diabetes (Day 1998; Goldstein 2004).

NAFLD is the third most common diagnosis in gastroenterological referrals, accounting for 11% of patients (Byron 1996). NAFLD is expected to become one of the most important liver diseases in the near future as a result of the obesity epidemic in the Western World (Mendez-Sanchez 2005).

NAFLD has a broad spectrum of clinical and histological manifestations, ranging from simple steatosis to its inflammatory presentation known as non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) (Matteoni 1999). NASH is defined histologically by zone 3 macrovesicular steatosis, although it can also be panacinar, in combination with hepatocyte ballooning and mixed inflammatory infiltrate (Brunt 1999). It is estimated that 3% to 4% of the general population have NASH (Falck-Ytter 2001). This is relevant because inflammation and fibrosis determine the long-term prognosis. Several studies and case reports suggest NASH might be an important cause of cryptogenic cirrhosis (Tellez-Avila 2008), potentially of cirrhosis (Fassio 2004), and even hepatocellular carcinoma (Chavez-Tapia 2009).

The molecular basis of the association between obesity-insulin resistance and NAFLD and NASH remains largely unknown (Chavez-Tapia 2009a). White adipose tissue is increasingly recognised as an endocrine organ, producing numerous proteins collectively referred to as adipokines. Some of these include: adiponectin, resistin, leptin, visfatin, apelin, vaspin, and other bioactive molecules. In addition to adipokines, adipose tissue produces a number of traditional cytokines, such as tumour necrosis factor, monocyte chemoattractant protein-1, and interleukin-6, thus adding proinflammatory pressure to other peripheral tissues. These proteins possess broad physiological functions and play important autocrine roles in obesity-associated complications (Berg 2005).

Diet and exercise constitute the central strategies in NAFLD treatment (Neuschwander 2003). Considering that several pathogenic mechanisms may be involved, various therapeutic strategies for NAFLD and NASH have been proposed to control insulin resistance using diverse drugs as gemfibrozil, metformin, betaine, N-acetylcysteine, and vitamin E (Chavez-Tapia 2006). However, no consensus regarding an effective therapy for NAFLD has been reached. Recent reports indicate that weight loss induced by bariatric surgical procedures to treat obesity could have beneficial effects in NASH, but the evidence so far is limited.

We have been unable to identify meta-analyses or systematic reviews of randomised clinical trials assessing the effects of bariatric surgery on NASH obese patients.

OBJECTIVES

To assess the benefits and harms of bariatric surgery for NASH treatment in obese patients.

METHODS

Criteria for considering studies for this review

Types of studies

All randomised clinical trials evaluating any bariatric procedure versus no intervention, placebo (sham procedure), or other interventions in obese patients with NASH, regardless of publication status, number of patients randomised, language, or blinding.

Following the instructions provided by the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Higgins 2008) regarding the intervention potential harm, we included available non-randomised studies to analyse reported adverse events.

Types of participants

Participants of any age, sex, or ethnic origin with overweight or obesity (defined as body mass index (BMI) more than 25 kg/m²) and NASH diagnosed by liver histology according to the following criteria:

Liver steatosis and two of the following three histological features:

- necroinflammatory foci with mononuclear cells and/or neutrophils;
- ballooning degeneration of hepatocytes with or without Mallory bodies; and
- pericellular fibrosis, persistent elevation of aminotransferases to 1.5 times normal for more than six months, and exclusion of other liver diseases (eg, alcoholic, autoimmune, cholestatic, viral, or metabolic liver diseases).

Types of interventions

Bariatric procedures including: Roux-en-Y gastric bypass, gastric banding, vertical banded gastroplasty, duodenal switch, biliopancreatic diversion, isolated intestinal bypass, and gastrectomy versus no intervention, placebo (sham procedure), or other interventions. Co-interventions were to be allowed only if equally received in the intervention groups.

Types of outcome measures

Primary outcome measures

- All-cause mortality: number of deaths irrespective of cause at maximal follow-up.
- Surgical-related mortality.
- Surgical-related morbidity.
- Hepatic-related mortality.
- Hepatic-related morbidity.
- Cardiovascular-related mortality.
- Cardiovascular-related morbidity.



 Histological response (number of patients without histological improvement in the degree of fatty liver infiltration, inflammation, and fibrosis) based on any score systems or their modifications.

Secondary outcome measures

- Changes in body weight (assessed as BMI, fat mass, fat-free mass).
- Biochemical response (serum activity of aspartate aminotransferase, alanine aminotransferase, alkaline phosphatases, gamma glutamyl-transpeptidase, serum total bilirubin, and ferritin).
- Metabolic response (according to the number of elements of metabolic syndrome).
- Cytokine response (serum levels of leptin, adiponectin, resistin, tumour necrosis factor alpha, interleukin 6, interleukin 1, transforming growth factor beta, monocyte chemoattractant protein, free fatty acids, vascular endothelial growth factor, plasminogen activator inhibitor, etc).

Adverse events (Long-term sequel of bariatric surgery)

- Adverse events defined as any untoward medical occurrence not necessarily having a causal relationship with the treatment (ICH-GCP 1996).
- Long-term nutrient deficiencies secondary to bariatric surgery as described in the trials (eg, iron, vitamin B12, vitamin D, calcium, protein and fat-soluble vitamin, and thiamine deficiency).

Search methods for identification of studies

Electronic searches

We searched *The Cochrane Hepato-Biliary Group Controlled Trials Register* (Gluud 2009)(October 2009), the *Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials* (*CENTRAL*) in *The Cochrane Library* (Issue 4, 2009), *MEDLINE* (1950 to October 2009), *EMBASE* (1980 to October 2009), and *Science Citation Index Expanded* (1945 to October 2009) (Royle 2003). The search strategies published within the protocol underwent changes at the review stage in order to increase the number of retrieved citations of possible relevance to this review (Appendix 1).

Handsearching

Manual searches were conducted in the abstract books of the *Digestive Disease Week of the American Gastroenterological Association* (1999 to 2008), the *American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases Meetings* (2003 to 2008), and the reference lists included in retrieved publications.

Data collection and analysis

Selection of studies

Three investigators (NCT, FT, and TBG) independently reviewed titles and abstracts of all the citations identified. After all studies were abstracted, face-to-face data comparisons between investigators were conducted to ensure completeness and reliability. The inclusion criteria to all identified studies were independently applied by NCT, FT, and TBG. Minor discrepancies were recorded and resolved by referring to the original paper.

Since no randomised clinical trials were identified, evaluation of methodological quality, and statistical analyses could not be performed. Hence, the following part of the protocol could not be followed. For this reason, we kept the text in future tense, and we will change the tense accordingly whenever randomised trials fulfilling the inclusion criteria are identified.

Data extraction and management

When a trial fulfils the inclusion criteria, data concerning participant characteristics, interventions, and outcome measures will independently be extracted using a standard form and entered in Review Manager 5 (RevMan 2008). If the information to be abstracted is not presented in the published reports, we will attempt to contact the corresponding authors of the trial.

Assessment of bias risk

We will assess the bias risk of the trials independently, without masking the authors of the studies. Authors will follow the instructions given in the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews* of *Interventions* (Higgins 2008) and *The Cochrane Hepato-Biliary Group Module* (Gluud 2009). Due to the risk of overestimation of intervention effects in randomised trials with inadequate methodological quality (Schulz 1995; Moher 1998; Kjaergard 2001; Wood 2008), we will look at the influence of methodological quality - hence risk of bias - over results by evaluating the methodological components described below. If information is not available in the published trial, we will contact the authors.

Generation of the allocation sequence

- Adequate, sequence generation was achieved using computer random number generation or a random number table. Drawing lots, tossing a coin, shuffling cards and throwing dice are adequate if performed by an independent adjudicator.
- Unclear, the trial is described as randomised but the method of sequence generation was not specified.
- Inadequate, the sequence generation method is not, or may not be, random. Quasi-randomised studies, those using dates, names, or admittance numbers in order to allocate patients are inadequate and will be excluded for the assessment of benefits but not for risks.

Allocation concealment

- Adequate, allocation was controlled by a central and independent randomisation unit, sequentially numbered, opaque and sealed envelopes or similar, so that intervention allocations could not have been foreseen in advance of, or during, enrolment.
- Unclear, the trial was described as randomised but the method used to conceal the allocation was not described, so that intervention allocations may have been foreseen in advance of, or during, enrolment.
- Inadequate, if the allocation sequence was known to the investigators who assigned participants or if the study was quasi-randomised. Quasi-randomised studies will be excluded for the assessment of benefits but not for harms.

Bariatric surgery for non-alcoholic steatohepatitis in obese patients (Review) Copyright © 2010 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



Blinding

- Yes, adequate, the trial was described as double blind and the method of blinding was described, so that knowledge of allocation was adequately prevented during the trial.
- Unclear, the trial was described as double blind, but the method of blinding was not described, so that knowledge of allocation was possible during the trail.
- No, not performed, the trial was not double blind, so that the allocation was known during the trail.

Incomplete outcome data

- Adequate, the numbers and reasons for dropouts and withdrawals in all intervention groups were described or if it was specified that there were no dropouts or withdrawals.
- Unclear, the report gave the impression that there had been no dropouts or withdrawals, but this was not specifically stated.
- Inadequate, the number or reasons for dropouts and withdrawals were not described.

Selective outcome reporting

- Adequate, pre-defined, or clinically relevant and reasonably expected outcomes are reported.
- Unclear, not all pre-defined, or clinically relevant and reasonably expected outcomes are reported or are not fully reported, or it is unclear whether data on these outcomes were recorded or not.
- Inadequate, one or more clinically relevant and reasonably expected outcomes were not reported on; data on these outcomes were likely to have been recorded.

Any other bias

- Adequate, the trial appears to be free of other components that could put it at risk of bias.
- Unclear, the trial may or may not be free of other components that could put it at risk of bias.
- Inadequate, there are other factors in the trial that could put it at risk of bias, eg, no sample size calculation made, early stopping, industry involvement, or an extreme baseline imbalance.

Trials with adequate generation of allocation sequence, adequate allocation concealment, adequate blinding, adequate handling of incomplete outcome data, no selective outcome reporting and without other bias risks will be considered trials with low risk of bias. Trials with one or more unclear or inadequate quality component will be considered trials with high risk of bias. However, we are aware that in a large number of reviews, such optimal division of trials may not be possible.

Statistical methods

We will perform the meta-analysis according to the recommendations of The Cochrane Collaboration (Higgins 2008) and *The Cochrane Hepato-Biliary Group Module* (Gluud 2009). We will use the software package RevMan 5 (RevMan 2008). For dichotomous variables, we will calculate the relative risk (RR) with 95% confidence interval. For continuous variables, we will calculate the mean difference (MD) with 95% confidence interval. Both a random-effects model (DerSimonian 1986) and a fixed-effect model (DeMets 1987) will be used. In case of discrepancy between the two models we will report both results; otherwise we will report only the results from the fixed-effect model. Heterogeneity will be

measured by I^2 (Higgins 2002) and explored by chi-squared test with significance set at 0.10. If statistical heterogeneity is found, sensitivity analyses will be conducted omitting trials with high risk of bias.

We will adopt the 'available-case analysis' (Higgins 2008). The analyses will be performed on an intention-to-treat basis (Schulz 1995). In case we find 'zero-event' trials in statistically significant outcomes, we will perform a sensitivity analysis with and without empirical continuity correction factors as suggested by Sweeting et al (Sweeting 2004). We will also report the risk difference.

Bias exploration

We will use funnel plots to explore bias (Egger 1997). Asymmetry in funnel plot of trial size against treatment effect will be used to detect bias. We will perform linear regression as described by Egger et al to determine the funnel plot asymmetry (Egger 1997).

RESULTS

Description of studies

The electronic searches of The Cochrane Hepato-Biliary Group Controlled Trials Register and the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) in The Cochrane Library did not produce any references. By searching MEDLINE and EMBASE, we retrieved 95 and 26 references, respectively. Of these, 100 were duplicates or clearly irrelevant references. Thus, twenty-one references of possible interest were identified and retrieved for evaluation (Ranløv 1990, Silverman 1995, Luyckx 1998, Dixon 2004, Kral 2004, Clark 2005, Keshishian 2005, Mattar 2005, Mottin 2005, Stratopoulos 2005, Barker 2006, Csendes 2006, de Almeida 2006, Dixon 2006, Jaskiewicz 2006, Klein 2006, Mathurin 2006, Meinhardt 2006, Furuya 2007, Liu 2007, Mathurin 2009). All of them were retrospective or prospective cohort studies and did not fulfil our inclusion criteria but were considered to describe adverse events. We have listed these studies in Characteristics of included studies and general information about the main outcomes can be found in Additional Table 1.

Fifteen studies were prospective cohorts, five studies were based on retrospective cohorts, and one study used a retrospective and prospective cohort. The number of the included participants ranged from 7 to 381 obese patients. Surgical techniques used in the studies were heterogeneous between and within studies. The most common procedure was Roux-en-Y gastric bypass (thirteen studies) followed by adjustable gastric band (six studies). The period of follow-up ranged from about 1 to 5 years; during this follow-up only two studies performed more than one biopsy after bariatric surgery (Stratopoulos 2005; Mathurin 2009).

Risk of bias in included studies

No randomised clinical trials were found. No quasi-randomised studies were found.

Effects of interventions

We could not find any randomised clinical trials that could fulfil the inclusion criteria of this review regarding benefits. Twenty-one observational cohort studies were identified. Improvement of liver function tests was reported in eleven studies, and in other seven studies at least one of the components of the metabolic syndrome improved; the BMI was not considered.



Regarding histological outcomes, eighteen studies reported a significant improvement in the degree of steatosis, eleven studies reported improvement in histological markers of inflammation, but only six studies showed some improvement in fibrosis scores. Furthermore, in four studies (Kral 2004, Stratopoulos 2005, Mathurin 2006, Mathurin 2009) some deterioration in the degree of fibrosis was described.

The studies included in this review did not directly report adverse-events rates after bariatric surgery. However, two trials (Stratopoulos 2005; Csendes 2006) reported histological score deterioration in a small percentage of patients: similarly, two studies reported NASH global scores deterioration (Keshishian 2005; Luyckx 1998), and four studies (Kral 2004; Stratopoulos 2005; Mathurin 2006; Mathurin 2009) reported an increase in hepatic fibrosis. All other fourteen studies did not report any adverse events.

DISCUSSION

In the current review, we tried to evaluate the efficacy and safety of bariatric surgery in NASH treatment in obese patients. Despite the comprehensive search, we were not able to find any randomised trials. This is not the first time that a Cochrane systematic review fails to find data from randomised trials in order to perform metaanalyses and conclude about an intervention (Lirussi 2007). This could be explained by the low number of randomised trials for the treatment of NASH, including medical and surgical options. In fact, only two methodologically strong studies using insulin sensitizing drugs are available nowadays (Belfort 2006; Aithal 2008).

The specific role of bariatric surgery in NASH has been assessed in a systematic review and meta-analyses based on observational studies by Mummadi 2008. It concludes that steatosis, steatohepatitis, and fibrosis are improved or completely resolved in the majority of patients after bariatric surgery induced weight loss. However, it is important to highlight that this conclusion is derived from less rigorous inclusion criteria and without addressing the potential biases. The methodological heterogeneity and high risk for bias of these studies represent serious limitations towards a systematic review that should provide scientifically sound recommendations. Even upon the lack of better studies, the inclusion of results from non-randomised studies in a systematic review could be misleading and represent a threat towards patients safety and well-being (Higgins 2008). Thus, the strength of this evidence should be considered carefully (Montori 2004; Guyatt 2008).

Designing and conducting a randomised clinical trial to test treatment strategies for NASH could be difficult. Many challenges would have to be faced, including having to obtain more than one liver biopsy to assess the effect of the therapeutic approach, dealing with drop-outs or loss to follow-up in patients subject to prolonged treatments and competing risks such as other liver co-morbidity (Adams 2005; Bedogni 2005) or cardiovascular disease (Lizardi-Cervera 2007; Bellentani 2008; Chavez-Tapia 2009b; Lizardi-Cervera 2009).

Bariatric surgery is a difficult topic for a systematic review and meta-analyses of randomised trials. In a comprehensive systematic review on obesity surgery (Colquitt 2009), for example, the authors found a positive effect related to the surgical approach when it was compared to conservative management, but a meta-analysis could not be performed as the studies included were limited and subjected to potential biases. The authors recommend developing randomised clinical trials with rigorous design for evaluation of the possible beneficial and harmful effects of this therapeutic approach.

Results reported in this review as well as studies included in the meta-analysis of Mummadi 2008 show a potential positive effect of bariatric surgery on several outcomes, among which reduction in body weight is the most important one as it is a high risk factor for NASH. Most of the studies report an improvement in liver function tests and in some components of metabolic syndrome. This finding, however, should not be considered a marker of liver improvement since improvement in liver tests is not correlated with histological findings (Angulo 2006). Some studies have found an improvement in biological markers, such as cytokines, which is a more logical finding when their role in the pathophysiology of the disease is considered. The improvement in the histologic scores is the most important finding as it has been consistent in all studies. These promising results, however, should encourage the undertaking of randomised clinical trials with low risk of bias in order to adequately assess the therapeutic effect, and not just considered blunt positive evidence. While results may be promising, the fact that some patients with NAFLD treated with bariatric surgery showed a deterioration of fibrosis scores must be considered. Researchers and clinicians should remain aware of this issue, particularly because deterioration of fibrosis was observed in larger studies with long follow-up periods and because fibrosis is one of the most important risk factors to develop advanced disease in NAFLD patients. Beyond potential benefits in the less important outcomes and the potential risk to deteriorate one of the most important outcomes, the lack of scientifically sound evidence precludes any recommendation to support or reject bariatric surgery to treat patients with NAFLD.

Most studies included in this review gave partial or no information on adverse events. Thus, any conclusion about bariatric surgery safety is potentially biased. This is a significant issue, because despite the low mortality rate associated with bariatric surgery, the adverse event rate could be important (Livingston 2006). Evidence pointing towards important histological adverse events was reported in some studies. The unexpected adverse events should be monitored carefully in future studies or trials.

Currently, there are no randomised clinical trials that compare bariatric surgery versus conservative management in patients with NASH. In several non-randomised trials, liver biopsies were obtained during bariatric surgery. Such studies can be used to explore the harmful effects of bariatric surgery on NASH, but in order to properly access the benefits and harms of the surgery, we need adequately conducted randomised clinical trials with large sample sizes and long duration of follow-up.

AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS

Implications for practice

The lack of randomised clinical trials to demonstrate the beneficial or harmful effects of bariatric surgery procedures for treatment of NASH could not enable us to reach any scientifically sustained conclusion. Despite positive results observed in cohort studies, due to their high risk of bias and the potential risk for worsening



in fibrosis scores, bariatric surgery needs to be assessed in randomised clinical trials.

Implications for research

Randomised clinical trials with low risk of bias need to be conducted to assess the beneficial or harmful effects of bariatric surgery in NASH treatment of obese patients. Trials should follow a rigorous methodology, consider the histological confirmation of the intervention analysed, be registered in a public registry, and reported according to the CONSORT guidelines (http:// www.consort-statement.org). Furthermore, such trials need to use rigorous methods to exclude hidden alcohol problems before inclusion of the patients.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We wish to thank Dimitrinka Nikolova of The Cochrane Hepato-Biliary Group for her kind patience and help in the development of the review, and Sarah Louise Klingenberg for her help retrieving bibliographic data.

Peer Reviewers on the Protocol: Saboor A Khan, UK; M Victorzon, Finland; Rowen K Zetterman, USA; Benoit Coffin, France. Contact Editor: Christian Gluud, Denmark.

Peer Reviewers on the Review: Heather Dean, USA; Philip Rosenthal, USA; Simon Msika, France. Contact Editor: Christian Gluud, Denmark.

REFERENCES

References to studies included in this review

Barker 2006 {published data only}

Barker KB, Palekar NA, Bowers SP, Goldberg JE, Pulcini JP, Harrison SA. Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis: effect of Roux-en-Y gastric bypass surgery. *American Journal of Gastroenterology* 2006;**101**(2):368-73.

Clark 2005 {published data only}

Clark JM, Alkhuraishi AR, Solga SF, Alli P, Diehl AM, Magnuson TH. Roux-en-Y gastric bypass improves liver histology in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Obesity Research* 2005;**13**(7):1180-6.

Csendes 2006 {published data only}

Csendes A, Smok G, Burgos AM. Histological findings in the liver before and after gastric bypass. *Obesity Surgery* 2006;**16**(5):607-11.

de Almeida 2006 {published data only}

de Almeida SR, Rocha PR, Sanches MD, Leite VH, da Silva RA, Diniz MT, et al. Roux-en-Y gastric bypass improves the nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) of morbid obesity. *Obesity Surgery* 2006;**16**(3):270-8.

Dixon 2004 {published data only}

Dixon JB, Bhathal PS, Hughes NR, O'Brien PE. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: Improvement in liver histological analysis with weight loss. *Hepatology* 2004;**39**(6):1647-54.

Dixon 2006 {published data only}

Dixon JB, Bhathal PS, O'Brien PE. Weight loss and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: falls in gamma-glutamyl transferase concentrations are associated with histologic improvement. *Obesity Surgery* 2006;**16**(10):1278-86.

Furuya 2007 {published data only}

Furuya CK Jr, de Oliveira CP, de Mello ES, Faintuch J, Raskovski A, Matsuda M, et al. Effects of bariatric surgery on nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: preliminary findings after 2 years. *Journal of Gastroenterol Hepatology* 2007;**22**(4):510-4.

Jaskiewicz 2006 {published data only}

Jaskiewicz K, Raczynska S, Rzepko R, Sledziński Z. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease treated by gastroplasty. *Digestive Diseases and Sciences* 2006;**51**(1):21-6.

Keshishian 2005 {published data only}

Keshishian A, Zahriya K, Willes EB. Duodenal switch has no detrimental effects on hepatic function and improves hepatic steatohepatitis after 6 months. *Obesity Surgery* 2005;**15**(10):1418-23.

Klein 2006 {published data only}

Klein S, Mittendorfer B, Eagon JC, Patterson B, Grant L, Feirt N, et al. Gastric bypass surgery improves metabolic and hepatic abnormalities associated with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Gastroenterology* 2006;**130**(6):1564-72.

Kral 2004 {*published data only*}

Kral JG, Thung SN, Biron S, Hould FS, Lebel S, Marceau S, et al. Effects of surgical treatment of the metabolic syndrome on liver fibrosis and cirrhosis. *Surgery* 2004;**135**(1):48-58.

Liu 2007 {published data only}

Liu X, Lazenby AJ, Clements RH, Jhala N, Abrams GA. Resolution of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis after gastric bypass surgery. *Obesity Surgery* 2007;**17**(4):486-92.

Luyckx 1998 {published data only}

Luyckx FH, Desaive C, Thiry A, Dewé W, Scheen AJ, Gielen JE, et al. Liver abnormalities in severely obese subjects: effect of drastic weight loss after gastroplasty. *International Journal of Obesity and Related Metabolic Disorders* 1998;**22**(3):222-6.

Mathurin 2006 {published data only}

Mathurin P, Gonzalez F, Kerdraon O, Leteurtre E, Arnalsteen L, Hollebecque A, et al. The evolution of severe steatosis after bariatric surgery is related to insulin resistance. *Gastroenterology* 2006;**130**(6):1617-24.

Mathurin 2009 {published data only}

Mathurin P, Hollebecque A, Arnalsteen L, Buob D, Leteurtre E, Caiazzo R, et al. Prospective study of the long-term effects of bariatric surgery on liver injury in patients without advanced disease. *Gastroenterology* 2009;**137**:532-40.

Mattar 2005 {published data only}

Mattar SG, Velcu LM, Rabinovitz M, Demetris AJ, Krasinskas AM, Barinas-Mitchell E, et al. Surgically-induced weight loss significantly improves nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and the metabolic syndrome. *Annals of Surgery* 2005;**242**(4):610-7.

Meinhardt 2006 {published data only}

Meinhardt NG, Souto KE, Ulbrich-Kulczynski JM, Stein AT. Hepatic outcomes after jejunoileal bypass: is there a publication bias?. *Obesity Surgery* 2006;**16**(9):1171-8.

Mottin 2005 {published data only}

Mottin CC, Moretto M, Padoin AV, Kupski C, Swarowsky AM, Glock L, et al. Histological behavior of hepatic steatosis in morbidly obese patients after weight loss induced by bariatric surgery. *Obesity Surgery* 2005;**15**:788-93.

Ranløv 1990 {published data only}

Ranløv I, Hardt F. Regression of liver steatosis following gastroplasty or gastric bypass for morbid obesity. *Digestion* 1990;**47**(4):208-14.

Silverman 1995 {published data only}

Silverman EM, Sapala JA, Appelman HD. Regression of hepatic steatosis in morbidly obese persons after gastric bypass. *American Journal of Clinical Pathology* 1995;**104**(1):23-31.

Stratopoulos 2005 {published data only}

Stratopoulos C, Papakonstantinou A, Terzis I, Spiliadi C, Dimitriades G, Komesidou V, et al. Changes in liver histology



accompanying massive weight loss after gastroplasty for morbid obesity. *Obesity Surgery* 2005;**15**:1154-60.

Additional references

Adams 2005

Adams LA, Lymp JF, St Sauver J, Sanderson SO, Lindor KD, Feldstein A, et al. The natural history of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a population-based cohort study. *Gastroenterology* 2005;**129**(1):113-21.

Aithal 2008

Aithal GP, Thomas JA, Kaye PV, Lawson A, Ryder SD, Spendlove I, et al. Randomized, placebo-controlled trial of pioglitazone in nondiabetic subjects with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Gastroenterology* 2008;**135**(4):1176-84.

Angulo 2006

Suzuki A, Lymp J, Sauver JS, Angulo P, Lindor K. Values and limitations of serum aminotransferases in clinical trials of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Liver International* 2006;**26**(10):1209-16.

Bedogni 2005

Bedogni G, Miglioli L, Masutti F, Tiribelli C, Marchesini G, Bellentani S. Prevalence of and risk factors for nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: the Dionysos nutrition and liver study. *Hepatology* 2005;**42**(1):44-52.

Belfort 2006

Belfort R, Harrison SA, Brown K, Darland C, Finch J, Hardies J, et al. A placebo-controlled trial of pioglitazone in subjects with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 2006;**355**(322):2297-307.

Bellentani 2008

Bellentani S, Bedogni G, Tiribelli C. Liver and heart: a new link?. *Journal of Hepatology* 2008;**49**(2):300-2.

Berg 2005

Berg AH, Scherer PE. Adipose tissue, inflammation, and cardiovascular disease. *Circulation Research* 2005;**96**(9):939-49.

Brunt 1999

Brunt EM, Janney CG, Di Bisceglie AM, Neuschwander-Tetri BA, Bacon BR. Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: a proposal for grading and staging the histological lesions. *The American Journal of Gastroenterology* 1999;**94**(9):2467-74.

Byron 1996

Byron D, Minuk GY. Clinical hepatology: profile of an urban, hospital-based practice. *Hepatology* 1996;**24**(4):813-5.

Chavez-Tapia 2006

Chavez-Tapia NC, Tellez-Avila FI, Garcia-Leiva J, Uribe-Ramos MH, Sanchez-Avila F, Uribe M. Therapeutic aspects in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Literature review. *Revista de Gastroenterología de México* 2006;**71**(4):487-95.

Chavez-Tapia 2009

Chavez-Tapia N, Mendez-Sanchez N, Uribe M. Role of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Annals of Hepatology* 2009;**8**(1 Suppl):34-9.

Chavez-Tapia 2009a

Chávez-Tapia NC, Uribe M, Ponciano-Rodríguez G, Medina-Santillán R, Méndez-Sánchez N. New insights into the pathophysiology of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Annals of Hepatology* 2009;**8**(1 Suppl):9-17.

Chavez-Tapia 2009b

Chavez-Tapia NC, Tellez-Avila FA, Valdes-Escarcega M, Perez-Bautista O, Lizardi-Cervera J, Méndez-Sanchez N, et al. Differential risk factor patterns for a positive treadmill test among subjects with and without ultrasound-based fatty liver. *Archives of Medical Science* 2009;**5**(2):207-14.

Colquitt 2009

Colquitt JL, Picot J, Loveman E, Clegg AJ. Surgery for obesity. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2009, Issue 2. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD003641.pub3]

Day 1998

Day CP, James OF. Hepatic steatosis: innocent bystander or guilty party?. *Hepatology* 1998;**27**(6):1463-6.

DeMets 1987

DeMets DL. Methods for combining randomized clinical trials: strengths and limitations. *Statistics in Medicine* 1987;**6**(3):341-50.

DerSimonian 1986

DerSimonian R, Laird N. Meta-analysis in clinical trials. *Controlled Clinical Trials* 1986;**7**(3):177-88.

Egger 1997

Egger M, Davey SG, Schneider M, Minder C. Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple, graphical test. *BMJ (Clinical Research Ed.)* 1997;**315**(7109):629-34.

Falck-Ytter 2001

Falck-Ytter Y, Younossi ZM, Marchesini G, McCullough AJ. Clinical features and natural history of nonalcoholic steatosis syndromes. *Seminars in Liver Disease* 2001;**21**(1):17-26.

Fassio 2004

Fassio E, Alvarez E, Domínguez N, Landeira G, Longo C. Natural history of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: a longitudinal study of repeat liver biopsies. *Hepatology* 2004;**40**(4):820-6.

Garcia-Monzon 2001

Garcia-Monzon. Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. Gastroenterologia y Hepatologia 2001;**24**(8):395-402.

Gluud 2009

Gluud C, Nikolova D, Klingenberg SL, Whitfield K, Alexakis N, Als-Nielsen B, et al. Cochrane Hepato-Biliary Group. About The Cochrane Collaboration (Cochrane Review Groups (CRGs)). 2009, Issue 4. Art. No.: LIVER.



Goldstein 2004

Goldstein BJ, Scalia R. A novel adipokine linking adipocytes and vascular function. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 2004;**89**(6):2563-8.

Guyatt 2008

Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Vist GE, Kunz R, Falck-Ytter Y, Alonso-Coello P, et al. GRADE: an emerging consensus on rating quality of evidence and strength of recommendations. *BMJ (Clinical Research Ed.)* 2008;**336**(7650):924-6.

Higgins 2002

Higgins JPT, Thompson SG. Quantifying heterogeneity in a meta-analysis. *Statistics in Medicine* 2002;**21**:1539-58.

Higgins 2008

Higgins JPT, Green S, (editors). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Intervention 5.0.0 [updated February 2008]. The Cochrane Collaboration 2008.

Hotamisligil 1995

Hotamisligil GS, Arner P, Caro JF, Atkinson RL, Spiegelman BM. Increased adipose tissue expression of tumor necrosis factoralpha in human obesity and insulin resistance. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 1995;**95**(5):2409-15.

ICH-GCP 1996

International conference on harmonisation of technical requirements for registration of pharmaceuticals for human use. Guideline for Good Clinical Practice. E6 (R1). ICH Harmonised Tripartite Guideline 1996.

Kjaergard 2001

Kjaergard LL, Villumsen J, Gluud C. Reported methodologic quality and discrepancies between large and small randomized trials in meta-analyses. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 2001;**135**(11):982-9.

Lirussi 2007

Lirussi F, Mastropasqua E, Orando S, Orlando R. Probiotics for non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and/or steatohepatitis. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2007, Issue 1. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD005165.pub2]

Livingston 2006

Livingston EH, Langert J. The impact of age and medicare status on bariatric surgical outcomes. *Archives of Surgery* 2006;**141**(11):1115-20.

Lizardi-Cervera 2007

Lizardi-Cervera J, Chavez-Tapia NC, Pérez-Bautista O, Ramos MH, Uribe M. Association among C-reactive protein, fatty liver disease, and cardiovascular risk. *Digestive Diseases and Sciences* 2007;**52**(9):2375-9.

Lizardi-Cervera 2009

Lizardi-Cervera J, Aguilar-Zapata D. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and its association with cardiovascular disease. *Annals of Hepatology* 2009;**8**(1 Suppl):40-3.

Matteoni 1999

Matteoni CA, Younossi ZM, Gramlich T, Boparai N, Liu YC, McCullough AJ. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a spectrum of clinical and pathological severity. *Gastroenterology* 1999;**116**(6):1413-9.

Mendez-Sanchez 2005

Mendez-Sanchez N, Villa AR, Chavez-Tapia NC, Ponciano-Rodriguez G, Almeda-Valdes P, Gonzalez D, et al. Trends in liver disease prevalence in Mexico from 2005 to 2050 through mortality data. *Annals of Hepatology* 2005;**4**(1):52-5.

Moher 1998

Moher D, Pham B, Jones A, Cook DJ, Jadad AR, Moher M, et al. Does quality of reports of randomised trials affect estimates of intervention efficacy reported in meta-analyses. *Lancet* 1998;**352**(9128):609-13.

Montori 2004

Montori VM, Saha S, Clarke M. A call for systematic reviews. *Journal of General Internal Medicine* 2004;**19**(12):1240-1.

Mummadi 2008

Mummadi RR, Kasturi KS, Chennareddygari S, Sood GK. Effect of bariatric surgery on nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology* 2008;**6**(12):1396-402.

Musso 2003

Musso G, Gambino R, De Michieli F, Cassader M, Rizzetto M, Durazzo M, et al. Dietary habits and their relations to insulin resistance and postprandial lipemia in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Hepatology* 2003;**37**(4):909-16.

Neuschwander 2003

Neuschwander-Tetri BA, Caldwell SH. Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: summary of an AASLD Single Topic Conference. *Hepatology* 2003;**37**(5):1202-19.

RevMan 2008 [Computer program]

The Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration. Review Manager (RevMan). Version 5 for Windows. Copenhagen: The Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration, 2008.

Royle 2003

Royle P, Milne R. Literature searching for randomized controlled trials used in Cochrane reviews: rapid versus exhaustive searches. *International Journal of Technology Assessment in Health Care* 2003;**19**(4):591-603.

Schulz 1995

Schulz KF, Chalmers I, Hayes RJ, Altman DG. Empirical evidence of bias. Dimensions of methodological quality associated with estimates of treatment effects in controlled trials. *JAMA* 1995;**273**(5):408-12.

Sweeting 2004

Sweeting MJ, Sutton AJ, Lambert PC. What to add to nothing? Use and avoidance of continuity corrections in meta-analysis of sparse data. avoidance of continuity corrections in meta-



analysis of sparse data. Statistics in Medicine. *Statistics in Medicine* 2004;**23**(9):1351-75.

Tellez-Avila 2008

Tellez-Avila FI, Sanchez-Avila F, García-Saenz-de-Sicilia M, Chavez-Tapia NC, Franco-Guzman AM, Lopez-Arce G, et al. Prevalence of metabolic syndrome, obesity and diabetes type 2 in cryptogenic cirrhosis. *World Journal of Gastroenterology* 2008;**14**(30):4771-5.

Wang 2003

Wang RT, Koretz RL, Yee HF Jr. Is weight reduction an effective therapy for nonalcoholic fatty liver? A systematic review. *American Journal of Medicine* 2003;**115**(7):554-9.

CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES

Characteristics of included studies [ordered by study ID]

Wanless 1990

Wanless IR, Lentz JS. Fatty liver hepatitis (steatohepatitis) and obesity: an autopsy study with analysis of risk factors. *Hepatology* 1990;**12**(5):1106-10.

Wood 2008

Wood L, Egger M, Gluud LL, Schulz KF, Jüni P, Altman GD, et al. Empirical evidence of bias in treatment effect estimates in controlled trials with different interventions and outcomes: meta-epidemiological study. *BMJ (Clinical Research Ed.)* 2008;**336**:601-5.

Barker 2006	
Methods	Non-randomised study.
	Type of study: prospective cohort.
	Inclusion criteria: presence of macrovesicular steatosis and lobular necroinflammation with or without the presence of perivenular/perisinusoidal fibrosis or Mallory's hyaline in liver biopsy
	Exclusion criteria: not given.
Participants	Sample size: 19 patients.
	Characteristics of included patients: mean age 48.6 years, female 89%, 26% with high blood pressure and/or diabetes mellitus.
Interventions	Roux-en-Y gastric bypass and second liver biopsy.
Outcomes	Histology
	Improvement in steatosis (P < 0.001), Mallory's hyaline (P = 0.008), ballooning degeneration (P < 0.001), lobular inflammation (P = 0.008), portal fibrosis (P = 0.001), and lobular fibrosis (P = 0.008).
	Biochemical
	AST 34 ± 21.6 vs 34 ± 16.4 U/L (P = 0.945); ALT 37 ± 32 vs 38 ± 22.7 U/L (P = 0.984); alkaline phosphatase 92 ± 38.7 vs 84 ± 17.4 U/L (P = 0.310).
Notes	Follow-up: 21.4 months.

Clark 2005

Methods	Non-randomised study.
	Type of study: prospective cohort.
	Inclusion criteria: patients included for bariatric surgery (BMI ≥ 40 kg/m² or ≥ 35 kg/m² with co-mor- bidities).
	Exclusion criteria: not given.

Clark 2005 (Continued)	
Participants	Sample size: 16 obese patients.
	Characteristics of included patients: mean age 43.9 ± 8.1 years, female 50%, mean BMI 51.1 ± 6.1 kg/m ² , 50% had high blood pressure, 19% diabetes, and 31% dyslipidaemia.
Interventions	Open Roux-en-Y gastric bypass and baseline liver biopsy, and second liver biopsy during second not-liv- er related surgery.
Outcomes	Histology
	Steatosis grade 3 (< 66%) 12.5 vs 0% (P < 0.001); inflammation grade 3, 25 vs 6.3% (P < 0.001); balloon- ing 0 (none) 12.5 vs 75% (P < 0.001); perisinusoidal fibrosis 0 (none) 12.5 vs 43.8% (P = 0.01), portal fi- brosis 0 (none) 18.8 vs 50% (P = 0.01).
	Biochemical
	AST 31.9 ± 27.5 vs 21.8 ± 9.7 U/L, ALT 33.6 ± 18.9 vs 23.5 ± 16.3 U/L, alkaline phosphatase 88.3 ± 31.7 vs 88.8 ± 32.5 U/L.
Notes	Follow-up: 305 ± 131 days.

Csendes 2006

Methods	Non-randomised study.
	Type of study: prospective cohort.
	Inclusion criteria: all patients submitted to Roux-en-Y gastric bypass with resection of the bypassed stomach due to morbid obesity.
	Exclusion criteria: not given.
Participants	Sample size: 16 obese patients.
	Characteristics of included patients: mean age 46.2 years, 15 males, BMI 44.3 kg/m ² .
Interventions	Roux-en-Y gastric bypass with resection of the bypassed stomach and second liver biopsy due to non- liver related surgery.
Outcomes	Histology
	Normalization of liver histology 10 patients (66.7%). Decrease in liver histology 2 patients (13.3%). Worsening in liver histology 1 patient (6.7%). Without change 1 patient (6.7%).
Notes	Follow-up: 22 months.

de Almeida 2006	
Methods	Non-randomised study.
	Type of study: prospective cohort.
	Inclusion criteria: patients submitted to Roux-en-Y gastric bypass due to morbid obesity.
	Exclusion criteria: alcohol consumption (> 40 g alcohol/day for men and > 20 g alcohol/day for women).

de Almeida 2006 (Continued)	
Participants	Sample size: 16 obese patients.
	Characteristics of included patients: mean age 40.2 ± 9.5 years, mean BMI 53.4 ± 8.8 kg/m², high blood pressure 75% and type 2 diabetes mellitus 43.8%.
Interventions	Roux-en-Y Gastric Bypass and baseline liver biopsy, second liver biopsy, due to liver-disease in baseline biopsy.
Outcomes	Histology
	Hepatocellular ballooning 16 vs 5 patients (P < 0.005); lobular inflammation 15 vs 0 patients (P < 0.05); portal inflammation 11 vs 8 patients (P = NS); Mallory's hyaline bodies 13 vs 16 patients (P = NS).
	Biochemical
	Not declared.
Notes	Follow-up: 23.5 ± 8.4 months.

Methods Non-randomised study. Type of study: prospective cohort. Inclusion criteria: patients with a body mass index of more than 35 kg/m ² who had significant medical, physical, or psychosocial disabilities are considered. Exclusion criteria: haemochromatosis, alpha1-antitrypsin deficiency, Wilson disease, or autoimmune liver disease if indicated on the liver biopsy. Previous history of alcoholism, consumed more than 200 g of alcohol per week, had evidence of hepatitis B or C, were taking known hepatotoxic medications, or had a history of or finding consistent with another specific liver disease. Participants Sample size: 36 obese patients. Characteristics of included patients: 11 male and 25 female, 43 ± 10.3 years, mean BMI 47 ± 10.6 35 kg/m ² , 39% diabetics, 50% hypertensive, 64% metabolic syndrome. Interventions Laparoscopic adjustable gastric banding and second liver biopsy due to non-liver related surgery (n = 19) and due to liver disease (n = 17).	Dixon 2004	
Type of study: prospective cohort.Inclusion criteria: patients with a body mass index of more than 35 kg/m² who had significant medical, physical, or psychosocial disabilities are considered.Exclusion criteria: haemochromatosis, alpha1-antitrypsin deficiency, Wilson disease, or autoimmune liver disease if indicated on the liver biopsy. Previous history of alcoholism, consumed more than 200 g of alcohol per week, had evidence of hepatitis B or C, were taking known hepatotoxic medications, or had a history of or finding consistent with another specific liver disease.ParticipantsSample size: 36 obese patients. Characteristics of included patients: 11 male and 25 female, 43 ± 10.3 years, mean BMI 47 ± 10.6 35 kg/ m², 39% diabetics, 50% hypertensive, 64% metabolic syndrome.InterventionsLaparoscopic adjustable gastric banding and second liver biopsy due to non-liver related surgery (n = 19) and due to liver disease (n = 17).	Methods	Non-randomised study.
Inclusion criteria: patients with a body mass index of more than 35 kg/m² who had significant medical, physical, or psychosocial disabilities are considered.Exclusion criteria: haemochromatosis, alpha1-antitrypsin deficiency, Wilson disease, or autoimmune liver disease if indicated on the liver biopsy. Previous history of alcoholism, consumed more than 200 g of alcohol per week, had evidence of hepatitis B or C, were taking known hepatotoxic medications, or had a history of or finding consistent with another specific liver disease.ParticipantsSample size: 36 obese patients. Characteristics of included patients: 11 male and 25 female, 43 ± 10.3 years, mean BMI 47 ± 10.6 35 kg/ m², 39% diabetics, 50% hypertensive, 64% metabolic syndrome.InterventionsLaparoscopic adjustable gastric banding and second liver biopsy due to non-liver related surgery (n = 19) and due to liver disease (n = 17).		Type of study: prospective cohort.
Exclusion criteria: haemochromatosis, alpha1-antitrypsin deficiency, Wilson disease, or autoimmune liver disease if indicated on the liver biopsy. Previous history of alcoholism, consumed more than 200 g of alcohol per week, had evidence of hepatitis B or C, were taking known hepatotoxic medications, or had a history of or finding consistent with another specific liver disease.ParticipantsSample size: 36 obese patients. Characteristics of included patients: 11 male and 25 female, 43 ± 10.3 years, mean BMI 47 ± 10.6 35 kg/ m ² , 39% diabetics, 50% hypertensive, 64% metabolic syndrome.InterventionsLaparoscopic adjustable gastric banding and second liver biopsy due to non-liver related surgery (n = 19) and due to liver disease (n = 17).		Inclusion criteria: patients with a body mass index of more than 35 kg/m ² who had significant medical, physical, or psychosocial disabilities are considered.
Participants Sample size: 36 obese patients. Characteristics of included patients: 11 male and 25 female, 43 ± 10.3 years, mean BMI 47 ± 10.6 35 kg/m ² , 39% diabetics, 50% hypertensive, 64% metabolic syndrome. Interventions Laparoscopic adjustable gastric banding and second liver biopsy due to non-liver related surgery (n = 19) and due to liver disease (n = 17).		Exclusion criteria: haemochromatosis, alpha1-antitrypsin deficiency, Wilson disease, or autoimmune liver disease if indicated on the liver biopsy. Previous history of alcoholism, consumed more than 200 g of alcohol per week, had evidence of hepatitis B or C, were taking known hepatotoxic medications, or had a history of or finding consistent with another specific liver disease.
Characteristics of included patients: 11 male and 25 female, 43 ± 10.3 years, mean BMI 47 ± 10.6 35 kg/m ² , 39% diabetics, 50% hypertensive, 64% metabolic syndrome. Interventions Laparoscopic adjustable gastric banding and second liver biopsy due to non-liver related surgery (n = 19) and due to liver disease (n = 17).	Participants	Sample size: 36 obese patients.
Interventions Laparoscopic adjustable gastric banding and second liver biopsy due to non-liver related surgery (n = 19) and due to liver disease (n = 17).		Characteristics of included patients: 11 male and 25 female, 43 \pm 10.3 years, mean BMI 47 \pm 10.6 35 kg/m ² , 39% diabetics, 50% hypertensive, 64% metabolic syndrome.
	Interventions	Laparoscopic adjustable gastric banding and second liver biopsy due to non-liver related surgery (n = 19) and due to liver disease (n = 17).
Outcomes Histology	Outcomes	Histology
Absence of steatosis 1 vs 21 (P < 0.001), absence of lobular inflammation 12 vs 25 (P < 0.001), absence o fibrosis 13 vs 29 (P < 0.001), in initial vs second liver biopsy.		Absence of steatosis 1 vs 21 (P < 0.001), absence of lobular inflammation 12 vs 25 (P < 0.001), absence of fibrosis 13 vs 29 (P < 0.001), in initial vs second liver biopsy.
Biochemical		Biochemical
AST 27 ± 33 vs 17 ± 8 U/L (P < 0.001), ALT 43 ± 33 vs 21 ± 15 U/L (P < 0.001), AST/ALT ratio 0.77 ± 0.39 vs 0.93 ± 0.54 (P = 0.012), gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase 38 ± 36.6 vs 18 ± 9 U/L (P < 0.001), alkaline phosphatase 105.5 ± 27 vs 62 ± 25 U/L (P < 0.001). Fasting glucose 6.3 ± 2.2 vs 5.0 ± 0.8 mmol/L (P < 0.001), HbA1c 6.2 ± 2.0 vs 5.3 ± 0.9% (P < 0.001), fasting insulin 22.4 ± 16.7 vs 10.6 ± 8.3 mU/L (P < 0.001), C peptide 1.39 ± 0.50 vs 0.96 ± 0.53 pmol/mL (P < 0.001).		AST 27 ± 33 vs 17 ± 8 U/L (P < 0.001), ALT 43 ± 33 vs 21 ± 15 U/L (P < 0.001), AST/ALT ratio 0.77 ± 0.39 vs 0.93 ± 0.54 (P = 0.012), gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase 38 ± 36.6 vs 18 ± 9 U/L (P < 0.001), alkaline phosphatase 105.5 ± 27 vs 62 ± 25 U/L (P < 0.001). Fasting glucose 6.3 ± 2.2 vs 5.0 ± 0.8 mmol/L (P < 0.001), HbA1c 6.2 ± 2.0 vs 5.3 ± 0.9% (P < 0.001), fasting insulin 22.4 ± 16.7 vs 10.6 ± 8.3 mU/L (P < 0.001), C peptide 1.39 ± 0.50 vs 0.96 ± 0.53 pmol/mL (P < 0.001).
Notes Follow-up: 25.6 ± 10 months.	Notes	Follow-up: 25.6 ± 10 months.



Dixon 2006	
Methods	Non-randomised study.
	Type of study: prospective cohort.
	Inclusion criteria: BMI > 35 kg/m ² , suffering significant medical, physical or psychosocial disabilities.
	Exclusion criteria: alcohol consumption >200 g/week, evidence of hepatitis B or C, taking known hepa- totoxic medications or a history or finding consistent with other liver diseases.
Participants	Sample size: 60 obese patients.
	Characteristics of included patients: mean age 43.5 \pm 9.4 years, BMI 45.9 \pm 7.4 kg/m ² .
Interventions	Baseline liver biopsy during laparoscopic adjustable gastric banding, and second liver biopsy related (percutaneous or non-liver related surgery).
Outcomes	Histology
	Centrilobular features of steatosis, inflammation, fibrosis and Mallory bodies all improved significantly with weight loss (P < 0.001 for all comparisons).
Notes	Follow-up: 29.5 ± 16.0 months.

Furuya 2007

Methods	Non-randomised study.
	Type of study: prospective cohort.
	Inclusion criteria: morbidly obese (BMI > 40 kg/m²).
	Exclusion criteria: Other liver disease.
Participants	Sample size: 18 obese patients.
	Characteristics of included patients: mean age 46.6 \pm 7.3 years, women 94.4%, and the mean preoperative BMI was 51.7 \pm 7.4 kg/m ² .
Interventions	Roux-en-Y gastric bypass and baseline liver biopsy, and second liver biopsy at 2 years of follow-up.
Outcomes	Histology
	Steatosis disappeared in 89% (P < 0.05) and fibrosis disappeared in 75% (P < 0.05).
	Biochemical
	HOMA 7.96 ± 7.16 vs 1.27 ± 0.51 (P < 0.001); ALT 28.22 ± 21.13 vs 21.83 ± 14.54 U/L (P = 0.081), AST 25.38 ± 14.72 vs 25.16 ± 19.96 U/L (P = 0.856), alkaline phosphatase 86.94 ± 24.09 vs 83.66 ± 17.63 U/L (P = 0.420), gamma glutamyl transpeptidase 42.05 ± 26.10 vs 20.11 ± 11.17 U/L (P = 0.001).
Notes	Follow-up: 24 months.

Jaskiewicz 2006

Methods

Non-randomised study.



Jaskiewicz 2006 (Continued)	
	Type of study: prospective cohort.
	Inclusion criteria: morbidly obese patients undergoing gastroplasty (restriction of storage capacity of the stomach).
	Exclusion criteria: not given.
	Characteristics of included patients: mean age 40.7 ± 10.0 years and BMI 46.7 ± 8.8 kg/m ² , all had with elevated triglycerides and/or hypercholesterolaemia; 67% of them with the metabolic syndrome.
Participants	Sample size: 10 obese patients (only those with second liver biopsy).
	Characteristics of included patients: mean age 40.7 ± 10.0 years and BMI 46.7 ± 8.8 kg/m ² , all had with elevated triglycerides and/or hypercholesterolaemia; 67% of them with the metabolic syndrome.
Interventions	Gastroplasty and second liver biopsy.
Outcomes	Histology
	Not reported among first and second biopsy.
	Biochemical
	AST 30.8 ± 13.8 vs 25.8 ± 16.2 U/L (P = 0.46), ALT 46.4 ± 21.4 vs 27.7 ± 11.7 U/L (P = 0.002).
Notes	Follow-up: 41 months.

Keshishian 2005

Methods	Non-randomised study.
	Type of study, retrocpositive solvert
	Type of study. Tetrospective conort.
	Inclusion criteria: morbid obesity.
	Exclusion criteria: history or evidence of liver disease other than NAFLD.
Participants	Sample size: 78 obese patients.
	Characteristics of included patients: average age 43.5y, female 72%, mean BMI 50.5 kg/m ² .
Interventions	Duodenal switch operation and second liver biopsy during intra-abdominal operation for various indi- cations.
Outcomes	Histology
	Significant improvement of hepatic steatosis and NASH grade.
	Biochemical
	No significant reduction on liver function tests.
Notes	Follow-up: 36 months

Klein 2006

Sariatric surgery for non-alcoholic steatohepatitis in obese patients (Review) 15		
Methods	Non-randomised study.	

Copyright @ 2010 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Klein 2006 (Continued)	
	Type of study: prospective cohort.
	Inclusion criteria: BMI ≥ 45 kg/m².
	Exclusion criteria: history or evidence of liver disease other than NAFLD.
Participants	Sample size: 7 obese patients.
	Characteristics of included patients: female 85.7%, diabetics 28.5%, mean BMI 58 \pm 4 kg/m ² .
Interventions	Gastric bypass surgery and baseline liver biopsy and second liver biopsy at 12 months.
Outcomes	Histology
	Significant improvement of hepatic steatosis.
	Biochemical
	HOMA-IR 12.9 ± 3.0 vs 2.0 ± 0.4 (P < 0.05); free fatty acids 0.55 ± 0.04 vs 0.44 ± 0.04 mmol/L (P < 0.05); ALT 32 ± 10 vs 21 ± 2 U/L (P = NS), AST 30 ± 7 vs 22 ± 2 U/L (P = NS), alkaline phosphatase 102 ± 9 vs 90 ± 13 U/L (P = NS).Significant reduction in hepatic expression of macrophage chemoattractant protein 1, interleukin 8, and transforming growth factor ß1.
Notes	Follow-up: 12 months.

Non-randomised study.
Type of study: prospective cohort.
Inclusion criteria: consecutive patients underwent biliopancreatic diversion for severe obesity, without liver disease. No patients with hepatotoxic medication or exposure, history of hepatitis, prior weight- loss surgery or consumption of more than 100 g of alcohol per week.
Exclusion criteria: not given.
Sample size: 104 obese patients.
Characteristics of included patients: female 80.8%, mean BMI $31 \pm 8 \text{ kg/m}^2$, presence of cirrhosis at baseline 2%.
Biliopancreatic diversion and baseline liver biopsy, and second surgery with liver biopsy.
Histology
Steatosis decreased from grade 1.57 ± 0.98 to 0.52 ± 0.71 (P < 0.0001). Fibrosis increased from grade 1.36 ± 1.14 to 1.56 ± 1.17 (P = 0.053).
Biochemical
ALT 28.0 ± 24.3 vs 22.9 ± 24.4 U/L (P < 0.01); AST 20.6 ± 14.6 vs 22.7 ± 32.0 U/L (P = NS), gamma glutamyl transpeptidase 29.6 ± 33.5 vs 30.7 ± 51.4 U/L (P = NS); alkaline phosphatase 72.2 ± 30.7 vs 94.3 ± 55.2 (P = 0.001).
Follow-up: 74 ± 27 months.



Liu 2007	
Methods	Non-randomised study.
	Type of study: retrospective cohort.
	Inclusion criteria: morbidly obese patients.
	Exclusion criteria: not given.
Participants	Sample size: 39 obese patients.
	Characteristics of included patients: mean age 41.4 \pm 9 years, BMI 47.7 \pm 6.2 kg/m².
Interventions	Laparoscopic Roux en-Y gastric bypass and second liver biopsy not related to liver disease.
Outcomes	Histology
	Steatosis 2.03 ± 1.1 vs 0.03 ± 0.2 (P < 0.0001). Overall centrilobular/perisinusoidal fibrosis score 0.86 ± 1.02 vs 0.33 ± 0.63 (P < 0.0001). Fibrosis 1.14 ± 1.05 vs 0.72 ± 0.97 (P = 0.002). Not improvement in portal fibrosis.
	Biochemical
	ALT 34.5 ± 19 vs 23.7 ± 13.2 U/L (P = 0.01); AST 30.8 ± 16.4 vs 25.6 ± 13.8 U/L (P = 0.08).
Notes	Follow-up:18 months.

Luyckx 1998		
Methods	Non-randomised study.	
	Type of study: retrospective and prospective cohort.	
	Inclusion criteria: severely obese patients submitted to a vertical ring gastroplasty or adjustable gastric banding.	
	Exclusion criteria: insufficiently motivated patients, alcohol abusers (> 20 glasses/week) or drug ad- dicts.	
Participants	Sample size: 69 obese patients.	
	Characteristics of included patients: 10 males and 59 females, aged 36 \pm 11 years, BMI 43.9 \pm 8.3 kg/m ² .	
Interventions	Vertical ring gastroplasty or an adjustable gastric banding and second liver biopsy due to non-liver re- lated surgery.	
Outcomes	Histology	
	Normal histology 13 vs 45 % (P < 0.001), steatosis 83 vs 38% (P < 0.001), steatohepatitis 14 vs 25% (P < 0.05), fibrosis 1.5 vs 1.5%, first vs second liver biopsy respectively.	
Notes	Follow-up: not declared	

Mathurin 2006

Methods	Non-randomised study.	
	Type of study: prospective cohort.	
Bariatric surgery for I	non-alcoholic steatohepatitis in obese patients (Review)	17

Copyright @ 2010 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



Mathurin 2006 (Continued)	
	Inclusion criteria: (1) severe obesity ($BMI \ge 35 \text{ kg/m}^2$) with comorbidity/co-morbidities or morbid obesity alone ($BMI \ge 40 \text{ kg/m}^2$) for at least 5 years and resistance to medical treatment; (2) absence of medical or psychological contraindications for bariatric surgery; (3) absence of current excessive drinking, as defined by an average daily consumption of alcohol of < 20 g/day for women and < 30 g/day for men, no history of past excessive drinking for a period longer than 2 years at any time in the past 20 years; (4) absence of long-term consumption of hepatotoxic drugs; and (5) negative screening for chronic liver diseases, including negative testing for hepatitis B surface antigen and hepatitis C virus antibodies; negative testing for anti-smooth muscle actin, anti-liver-kidney microsomes, and antimitochondrial antibodies; no evidence of genetic haemochromatosis; and normal ceruloplasmin and alpha1-antitrypsin serum levels.
	Exclusion criteria: reported exhaustively in inclusion criteria.
Participants	Sample size: 185 obese patients.
	Characteristics of included patients: 185 consecutive obese patients (148 women and 37 men; mean age, 41 ± 9 years) with a mean BMI at 49 ± 8 kg/m ² .
Interventions	Biliointestinal bypass or adjustable gastric band inserted by laparoscopy with liver biopsy, and second liver biopsy.
Outcomes	Histology
	Median of steatosis 20 vs 8% (P < 0.001), severe steatosis 34 vs 9% (P = 0.001), mean fibrosis score 0.14 \pm 0.39 vs 0.38 \pm 0.64 (P = 0.0001).
	Biochemical
	ALT 19 vs 18.5 U/L (P = 0.005); gamma glutamyl transpeptidase 28 vs 23 U/L (P = 0.0002); IR index 3.13 vs 2.8 (P < 0.00011).
Notes	Follow-up: 1 year.

Mathurin 2009

Methods	Non randomised study.
	Type of study: prospective cohort.
	Inclusion criteria
Participants	Inclusion criteria: patients with BMI > 40 kg/m ² or BMI > 35 and at least one comorbidity factor, absence of medical or psychological contraindications for bariatric surgery; absence of current excessive alco- hol consumption (average daily consumption > 20 g/d for women and 30 g/d for men, and no history of past excessive drinking for a period > 2 years at any time in the past 20 years), absence of long-term consumption of hepatotoxic drugs, and negative screening for chronic liver diseases. Exclusion criteria: reported exhaustively in inclusion criteria.
Interventions	Biliointestinal bypass, gastric bypass, and gastric band surgery.
Outcomes	Histology
	Amount of steatosis 37.4 vs 16% (P < 0.001), severe steatosis 29 vs 8.5% (P < 0.001), Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease score 1.97 vs. 1 (P < 0.001), extent of fibrosis 0.27 vs 0.36 (P = 0.002).
	Biochemical



Mathurin 2009 (Continued)

ALT 30 vs 22 UI/L (P < 0.001), GGT 39.9 vs 29.2 UI/L (P < 0.001), fasting glucose 1.18 vs 0.94 g/L (P < 0.001), insulin resistance index 3.2 vs 2.83 (P < 0.001).

Notes	Follow-up: 5 years

Mattar 2005	
Methods	Non-randomised study.
	Type of study: prospective cohort.
	Inclusion criteria: patients with elevated liver function tests, gross features of fatty liver as depicted by ultrasonographic interrogation or intraoperative visual assessment of the liver, or histologic evaluation of liver biopsy specimens obtained at the time of surgery.
	Exclusion criteria: previous history of alcoholism, consumption > 20 g alcohol per day, had evidence of autoimmune hepatitis, chronic hepatitis B or C virus, HIV, genetic haemochromatosis, alpha1 antit- rypsin deficiency, Wilson disease, or were taking known hepatotoxic drugs. Other exclusion criteria in- cluded patients in whom no repeat liver biopsy was performed, or if the time interval between initial and repeat liver biopsy was less than 3 months.
Participants	Sample size: 70 obese patients.
	Characteristics of included patients: 48 (65%) women, mean age was 49 \pm 9 years, mean BMI of 56 \pm 11 kg/m².
Interventions	The Roux-en-Y gastric bypass, the laparoscopic adjustable gastric band, or the sleeve gastrectomy, with baseline liver biopsy, and second liver biopsy.
Outcomes	Histology
	Absence of steatosis 1.4 vs 64.3%, absence inflammation 7.1 vs 40%, grade 0 histology 7.1 vs 44.3%, stage 0 histology 20 vs 40%; P < 0.001 in all cases.
	Biochemical
	AST 31 ± 18 vs 24 ± 11 UI/L (P = 0.003), ALT 37 ± 19 vs 33 ± 19 (P = 0.06).
Notes	Follow-up: 15 ± 9 months.

Moi	inh	ard	+ 2	006
I''C		aiu		

Methods	Non-randomised study.
	Type of study: historical cohort.
	Inclusion criteria: all patients underwent the end-to-side jejuno-ileal bypass.
	Exclusion criteria: not given.
Participants	Sample size: 30 obese patients (only those with second liver biopsy).
	Characteristics of included patients: female 84%, mean age 37.9 \pm 7.6 years.
Interventions	End-to-side jejuno-ileal bypass and baseline liver biopsy and second liver biopsy.
Outcomes	Histology

Meinhardt 2006 (Continued)

Notes

Steatosis 87.8% vs 76.7%. Steatohepatitis 31.7% vs 23.3%. Fibrosis 39% vs 36.7%.

Biochemical

ALT 27.9 ± 12.5 vs 36.6 ± 15.5 U/L (P = 0.085), AST 16.3 ± 6.9 vs 20.0 ± 10.0 U/L (P = 0.096).

Follow-up:70.0 ± 42.8 months.

Mottin 2005	
Methods	Non-randomised study.
	Type of study: historical cohort.
	Inclusion criteria: not given.
	Exclusion criteria: no histological alterations in intraoperative biopsy, presence of histological alter- ation other than steatosis, history of ethanol abuse or other possible etiology for the hepatic damage and patients with insufficient material.
Participants	Sample size: 186 obese patients, only 90 patients with a second biopsy.
	Characteristics of included patients: ninety patients, 71.1% women, mean age 35 years, initial BMI 46.7 kg/m ² , 10% diabetes, 52% hypertension, and 73% dyslipidaemia.
Interventions	Baseline liver biopsy, during Roux-en-Y gastric bypass by the Fobi technique, and second liver biopsy one year after surgery.
Outcomes	Histology
	Steatosis 100% vs 45.6%.
Notes	Follow-up: 12 months.

Ranløv 1990

Methods	Non-randomised study.
	Type of study: prospective cohort.
	Inclusion criteria: biopsy-proven fatty liver
	Exclusion criteria: not given
Participants	Sample size: 15.
	Characteristics of included patients: consecutive persons aged under 50 with an overweight exceeding 75%.
Interventions	Internvention: gastric bypass or gastroplasty.
Outcomes	Histology
	Significatn reduction on steatosis grades
	Biochemical



Ranløv 1990 (Continued)

Improvement on alkaline phosphatase.

|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|

Silverman 1995	
Methods	Non-randomised study.
	Type of study: retrospective cohort.
	Inclusion criteria: patients with at least 200% of the ideal body weight or at least 45 kg more than the ideal body weight; patients must have had no success in maintaining weight loss with conservative therapies. Exclusion criteria: not given.
Participants	Sample size: 91 obese patients.Characteristics of included patients: eighty-seven women and four men. Mean age 39 years. Six patients had diabetes mellitus.
Interventions	Baseline liver biopsy, during Roux-en-Y gastric bypass, and second liver biopsy during non-liver related surgery.
Outcomes	Histology Steatosis 78 vs 21%, perisinusoidal fibrosis 14 vs 3%, porta lfibrosis 10 vs 9%, portal inflammation 44 vs 48%, lobular inflammation 41 vs 30%. Biochemical
	AST 23 vs 25 U/L.
Notes	Follow-up: 18.4 months

Stratopoulos 2005	
Methods	Non-randomised study.
	Type of study: prospective cohort.
	Inclusion criteria: non-diabetic, non-alcoholic, morbidly obese (BMI > 40 kg/m ²).
	Exclusion criteria: other liver diseases, heart failure, organic renal disease, cancer or other major dis- ease.
Participants	Sample size: 216 obese patients.
	Characteristics of included patients: mean BMI 52.8 \pm 1 kg/m ² , prevalence of steatosis and steatohep- atitis 98%, prevalence of fibrosis 94%, prevalence of cirrhosis 0%.
Interventions	Vertical banded gastroplasty and baseline liver biopsy, second biopsy in all patients, and third biopsy in only 16 patients.
Outcomes	Histology
	Second biopsy
	Steatosis. Improvement 84.3%, without change 15.6%, worsening 0% (P < 0.001). Steatohepatitis. Improvement 86.2%, without change 13.7%, worsening 0% (P < 0.001). Fibrosis. Improvement 47%, without change 41.1%, worsening 11.7% (P < 0.002).

Stratopoulos 2005 (Continued)

TI.:		
Inira	ninnsv	
1 mu	010039	

Reduction of liver steatosis (P = 0.014), steatohepatitis (P = 0.011) and fibrosis (P = 0.008).

Biochemical

AST 27.7 ± 2.1 vs 19.3 ± 1.2 U/L (P = 0.001); ALT 39.8 ± 4.3 vs 20.3 ± 2.3 U/L (P < 0.001); alkaline phosphatase 79.8 ± 3.4 vs 73.2 ± 5.8 U/L (P = 0.224), fasting plasma glucose 94.8 ± 1.6 vs 86.9 ± 1.0 (P < 0.001).

Notes Follow-up:18 ± 9.6 months after gastroplasty.

vs = versus

ADDITIONAL TABLES

Table 1. Summary of findings from non-randomised studies

Study	Type of	Sample	Intervention	Outcome	Outcome
	study	size		Histology	LFT
Ranløv	Prospective	15	Gastric bypass or gas-	Improvement: steatosis	Improved
1990	cohort		troplasty	Worsening: not reported	
				No change: inflammatory and granulomatous scores	
Silverman 1995	Retrospec- tive cohort	91	Roux-en-Y gastric by- pass	Improvement: steatosis, perisinusoidal fibrosis and lobular inflammation	No change
				Worsening: portal inflammation	
				No change: portal fibrosis	
Luyckx	Retrospec-	69	Vertical ring gastroplas-	Improvement: steatosis	Not re-
1998	tive and prospective		ty or adjustable gastric	Worsening: steatohepatitis	ported
	cohort		banding	No change: fibrosis	
Dixon 2004	Prospective cohort	36	Laparoscopic ad- justable gastric banding	Improvement: steatosis, lobular inflammation, fi- brosis	Improved
				Worsening: not reported	
				Unchange: not reported	
Kral 2004	Prospective	104	Biliopancreatic diver-	Improvement: steatosis	Improved
	cohort		sion	Worsening: fibrosis	
				Unchange: not reported	
Clark 2005	Prospective cohort	16	Roux-en-Y gastric by- pass	Improvement: Steatosis, inflammation, balloon- ing, perisinusoidal fibrosis, portal fibrosis	Improved
				Worsening: not reported	

	-	-		Unchange: not reported	
Keshishi-	Retrospec-	78	Biliopancreatic diver-	Improvement: steatosis, NASH grade	No
all 2005	tive condit		SION	Worsening: NASH grade (only at 6 months)	change
				No change: Not reported	
Mattar	Prospective	70	Roux-en-Y gastric by-	Improvement: steatosis, absence inflammation	Improved
2005	CONDIT		justable	Worsening: not reported	
			gastric band, or the sleeve gastrectomy	No change: not reported	
Mottin	Retrospec-	90	Roux-en-Y gastric by-	Improvement: steatosis	Not re-
2005	tive conort		pass	Worsening: not reported	ported
				No change: not reported	
Stratopou- los 2005	Prospective cohort	216	Vertical banded gastro- plasty	Improvement: steatosis, steatohepatitis, fibrosis Worsening: small percentage in all histologic out- comes No change: small percentage in all histologic out- comes	Improved
Barker 2006	Prospective cohort	19	Roux-en-Y gastric by- pass	Improvement: steatosis, Mallory's hyaline, bal- looning degeneration, lobular inflammation, por- tal fibrosis, and lobular fibrosis	No change
				Worsening: not reported	
				No change: fibrosis	
Csendes	Prospective cohort	16	Roux-en-Y gastric by- pass	Improvement: 66% of the patients	Not re-
			1	Worsening: 6.7% of the patients	
				Unchange: 13.35% of the patients	
de Almei-	Prospective	16	Roux-en-Y gastric by-	Improvement: ballooning, lobular inflammation	Not re-
ua 2000	conort		pass	Worsening: not reported	ported
				No change: portal inflammation, Mallory's hyaline bodies	
Dixon 2006	Prospective cohort	60	Laparoscopic ad- justable gastric banding	Improvement: steatosis, inflammation, fibrosis and Mallory's hyaline bodies	Not re- ported
				Worsening: not reported	
				No change: not reported	
Jask- iewicz 2006	Prospective cohort	10	Gastroplasty	Not reported	Improved
Klein 2006	Prospective	7	Gastric bypass surgery	Improvement: steatosis	No
	conort			Mercerian wat you attack	cnange

Table 1. Summary of findings from non-randomised studies (Continued)

				No change: not reported	
Mathurin	Prospective	185	Biliointestinal bypass or	Improvement: steatosis	Improved
2000	CONDIC		gastric band	Worsening: fibrosis	
				No change: inflammation	
Meinhardt	Retrospec-	30	End-to-side jejuno-ileal	Improvement: steatosis, steatohepatitis	No
2006	tive conort		bypass	Worsening: not reported	cnange
				No change: fibrosis	
Furuya	Prospective	18	Roux-en-Y gastric by-	Improvement: steatosis, fibrosis	Improved
2007	conort		pass	Worsening: not reported	
				No change: portal fibrosis	
Liu 2007	Retrospec- tive cohort	39	Roux-en-Y gastric by- pass	Improvement: steatosis, inflammation, overall centrilobular/perisinusoidal fibrosis	Improved
				Worsening: not reported	
				Unchange: portal fibrosis	
Mathurin	Prospective	362	Biliointestinal bypass,	Improvement: steatosis	Improved
2009	CONDIC		tric band surgery	Worsening: fibrosis	
				No change: inflammation	

Table 1. Summary of findings from non-randomised studies (Continued)

LFT = liver function tests

APPENDICES

Appendix 1. Search strategies

Database	Period of search	Search strategy
The Cochrane He-	October 2009.	ORIGINAL SEARCH STRATEGY
Controlled Trials Register		("jejunoileal bypass" OR "vertical banded gastroplasty" OR "gastric bypass" OR "gastric bypass loop" OR "adjustable gastric band" OR "biliopancreatic diversion" OR "bariatric*") AND ("non*alcoholic fatty liver" OR "non alcoholic fatty liver" OR "nonalcoholic fatty liv- er" OR "NAFL*" OR "NASH" OR (non*alcoholic AND steato*hepatitis) OR (non alcoholic AND steato*hepatitis) OR (nonalcoholic AND steato*hepatitis))
		EXPANDED SEARCH STRATEGY
		('jejunoileal bypass*' OR 'vertical banded gastroplast*' OR 'gastric bypass*' OR 'ad- justable gastric band*' OR 'biliopancreatic diversion*' OR bariatric*) AND (liver* OR he- pat* OR steatohepat* OR NAFL* OR NASH*)
Cochrane Cen-	lssue 4, 2009.	ORIGINAL SEARCH STRATEGY
tral Register of		#1 MeSH descriptor Bariatric explode all trees in MeSH products

Bariatric surgery for non-alcoholic steatohepatitis in obese patients (Review)

Copyright @ 2010 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

(Continued) Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) in The Cochrane Library		 #2 MeSH descriptor Obesity explode all trees in MeSH products #3 MeSH descriptor Surgery explode all trees in MeSH products #4 (#1 OR #2 OR #3) #5 (liver and (non-alcoholic or non alcoholic or nonalcoholic or fatty or disease or steato*)) or NAFL or NASH in All Fields in all products #6 (#4 AND #5) EXPANDED SEARCH STRATEGY #1 MeSH descriptor Bariatric Surgeryexplode all trees
		 #2 jejunoileal bypass* OR vertical banded gastroplast* OR gastric bypass* OR adjustable gastric band* OR biliopancreatic diversion* OR bariatric* #3 (#1 OR #2) #4 MeSH descriptor Liverexplode all trees #5 liver* OR hepat* OR steatohepat* OR NAFL* OR NASH* #6 (#4 OR #5) #7 (#3 AND #6)
MEDLINE (Ovid SP)	1950 to October 2009.	ORIGINAL SEARCH STRATEGY ("jejunoileal bypass" OR "vertical banded gastroplasty" OR "gastric bypass" OR "gastric bypass loop" OR "adjustable gastric band" OR "biliopancreatic diversion" OR "bariatric*") AND ("non*alcoholic fatty liver" OR "non alcoholic fatty liver" OR "nonalcoholic fatty liv- er" OR "NAFL*" OR "NASH" OR (non*alcoholic AND steato*hepatitis) OR (non alcoholic AND steato*hepatitis) OR (nonalcoholic AND steato*hepatitis)) EXPANDED SEARCH STRATEGY
		<pre>#1 exp Bariatric Surgery/ #2 (jejunoileal bypass* or vertical banded gastroplast* or gastric bypass* or adjustable gastric band* or biliopancreatic diversion* or bariatric*).mp. [mp=title, original title, ab- stract, name of substance word, subject heading word, unique identifier] #3 (#1 or #2) #4 exp Liver/ #5 (liver* or hepat* or steatohepat* or NAFL* or NASH*).mp. [mp=title, original title, ab- stract, name of substance word, subject heading word, unique identifier] #6 (#4 or #5) #7 (#6 and #3) #8 (random* or blind* or placebo* or meta-analysis).mp. [mp=title, original title, ab- stract, name of substance word, subject heading word, unique identifier] #9 (#8 and #7)</pre>
EMBASE (Ovid SP)	1980 to October 2009.	ORIGINAL SEARCH STRATEGY #1 explode "bariatric-surgery"/ all subheadings #2 jejunoileal bypass* or banded gastroplast* or gastric bypass* or gastric band* or bil- iopancreatic diversion* or bariatric* #3 (#1 or #2) #4 explode "nonalcoholic-fatty-liver"/ all subheadings #5 non*alcoholic fatty liver or NAFL or non*alcoholic steato*hepatitis or NASH #6 (#4 or #5) #7 (#3 and #6) #8 random* or blind* or placebo* or meta-analysis #9 (#7 and #8) EXPANDED SEARCH STRATEGY #1 exp Bariatric Surgery/ #2 (jejunoileal bypass* or vertical banded gastroplast* or gastric bypass* or adjustable gastric band* or biliopancreatic diversion* or bariatric*).mp. [mp=title, abstract, subject headings, heading word, drug trade name, original title, device manufacturer, drug man- ufacturer name]



(Continued)		#3 (#1 or #2) #4 exp liver/ #5 (liver* or hepat* or steatohepat* or NAFL* or NASH*).mp. [mp=title, abstract, subject headings, heading word, drug trade name, original title, device manufacturer, drug man- ufacturer name] #6 (#4 or #5) #7 (#6 and #3) #8. (random* or blind* or placebo* or meta-analysis).mp. [mp=title, abstract, subject headings, heading word, drug trade name, original title, device manufacturer, drug man- ufacturer name] 9 (#8 and #7)
Science Citation Index Expanded (http://apps.isi- knowledge.com)	1900 to October 2009.	ORIGINAL SEARCH STRATEGY #1 MeSH descriptor Bariatric explode all trees in MeSH products #2 MeSH descriptor Obesity explode all trees in MeSH products #3 MeSH descriptor Surgery explode all trees in MeSH products #4 (#1 OR #2 OR #3) #5 (liver and (non-alcoholic or non alcoholic or nonalcoholic or fatty or disease or steato*)) or NAFL or NASH in All Fields in all products #6 (#4 AND #5) EXPANDED SEARCH STRATEGY #1 TS=(jejunoileal bypass* OR vertical banded gastroplast* OR gastric bypass* OR ad- justable gastric band* OR biliopancreatic diversion* OR bariatric*) #2 TS=(liver* or hepat* or steatohepat* or NAFL* or NASH*) #3 (#2 AND #1) #4 TS=(random* or blind* or placebo* or meta-analysis) #5 (#4 AND #3)

WHAT'S NEW

Date	Event	Description
2 July 2009	Amended	A peer reviewers' contribution acknowledged.

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

Norberto C. Chavez Tapia: conceived, designed, co-ordinated, collected, analysed, interpreted data, wrote and approved the review. Nahum Mendez-Sanchez: provided general advice on the review, read and approved the review. Javier Lizardi-Cervera: provided general advice on the review, read and approved the review. Felix Tellez-Avila: designed, collected, analysed, interpreted data, corrected and approved the review. Tonatiuh Barrientos-Gutierrez: collected, analysed, interpreted data, corrected and approved the review. Misael Uribe: provided general advice on the review, read and approved the review.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

None known.

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Internal sources

• None, Not specified.



External sources

• None, Not specified.

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW

After discussion with the editors and authors of the review we decided to include non-randomised studies to assess the rate of adverse events.

The original search strategy was expanded to identify more reports.

ΝΟΤΕS

None.

INDEX TERMS

Medical Subject Headings (MeSH)

*Bariatric Surgery; Fatty Liver [etiology] [*surgery]; Obesity [complications] [*surgery]

MeSH check words

Humans